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1. The Appeals Chamber of thé Internationa} Criminal Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons
Responsible for Genocide and Other Serious Violations of Interrational Humanitarian Law
Committed in the Temmitory of Rwanda and Rwandan Citizens Responsible for Genocide and Other
Such Violations Committed in the Territory of Neighbouring States Betwsen 1 January and 31
Decerber 1994 (“Appeals Chamber” and “Tribunal”, respectively) is seized of five motions by the
Appellant Jean-Bosco Barayagwiza (“Appellant”):

- “The Appellant Jean-Bosco Barayagwiza's Motion Giving Notice of the Further Delay

the Filing of tha Motion for Additianal Evidence Relating to Alison Des Forges, Pursuant to the
Decision of 26 May 2006” filed on 26 June 2006 (“Motion Giving Notice of Delay™);'

- “The Appcllent Jean-Bosco Barayagwiza's Moton for Leave to Presemt Additional
Evidence (Rale 115)” filed on 7 July 2006 (“First Rule 115 Motion™);?

- “The Appellami Jeap-Bosco Barayagwiza's Corrigendum Motion Relating to the
Appellant’s Reply to the Prosecutor’s Response to the Appellant’s Motion for Leave to Prescat
Addiﬁoml Evidence (Rule 115) Dated 20% July 2006 filed or 31 July 2006 (“Comigendum
Motion™);

- “The Appelant Jean-Bosco Barayagwiza's Motion for Leave to Present Additionel
Evideoee (Rule 115" filed en 13 September 2006 (“Second Rule 115 Motien™);!

- “The Appellant Jeun-Bosco Batayagwiza's Mbotion for Leave to Preseat Additional
Evidence (Rulc 115)" filed on 14 November 2006 (“Third Rule 115 Mation™).*

2. In the First Rule 115 Motion, the Appellant requests the Appeals Chamber to admit twelve
pieces of additional evidence on appeal to support his allegation that Alison Des Forges, who
testified as an expert witness at trial, was biased against the Appellant. The Motion Giving Notico
of Delay and the Corrigendum Motion are ameillary to the First Rule 115 Motion. In the Second
Rule 115 Motion, the Appellant seeks admission of three documents related to his role within the
“Coalition pour la Défense de In Républigue” (“CDR") as additional evidence on eppeal. In the

! The Prosecution did not file a response to the Motion Giving Notice of Delay.

*The Prosecotion Til=d the “Prosecator’s Response 10 ZI'he Appeliant Jean-Bosco Barayagwiza s Motion far Leave 16
Present Additional Evidente (Rule 115)"™ on 17 July 2006 (“Response to the First Rule 115 Molion™). The Appellani
filed “The Appellant Jean-Bosco Barayagwiza's Reply to the Preseculor’s Response 1o ZThe Appeliant Jean-Bosco
Barayagwiza's Modon for Leave 0 Present Additional Evidence (Rule 115) on 21 July 2006 (“Reply to the First Rule
115 Moton™).

? The Prosecution did not file a repomse to the Corrigendum,

* The Proscoution flled the “Prosecutor’s Responss to ZThe Appellant Jcan-Bosco Barayagwiza's Motion for Leave to
Present Additional Evidencs (Ruls 115)™ on 22 Sepistaber 2006 (“Response to the Second Rule 115 Moden™), and the
Appeliant filed “The Appellant Jean-Bosco Barayagwiza's Reply to the Prosecutor’s Response to the ZModon for
Leave to Present Additional Evidence (Rule 115)™ an 28 September 2006 (“Reply 1o the Second Ruls 115 Motion™).

7 The Prosecution filad the “Prosccutor’s Response to ZThe Appellant Jesn-Rosco Barayagwiza’s Motian for Leave to
Present Additional Evidenge (Rulz 115)"™ an 22 November 2006 (“Response to the Third Rule 115 Metion™) and 1he
Appeliant Flcd confidendally “The Appecllant Jean-Besco Barayagwiza's Reply 1o the Prasecnor’s Response to ZThe
Appellant Jean-Bosco Barayagwiza’s Moton for Leave to Present Additional Evidence (Rule 115)" ("Reply to the
Third Rule 155 Motlon”) en 30 November 2006, The Appeals Chamber notes that the Appellant gives no reason as to
why the Roply to the Third Rule 113 Motion or the prescnt decision need (o be confidential and finds that there is no
apparent reason {or the confidential classification of the Reply o the Thivd Rule 115 Motion Consequently, botb the
Reply to ths Thied Rule 115 Motion and the present decision should be public.

1
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Third Rule 115 Motion, the Appellant requests the Appeals Chamber to admit two documents
which, in his view, show that the testimony of Witness AGK, who testified at trial, was unreliable.

3.  Trial Chamber I rendered its Judgement in this case on 3 December 2003.° Pursuant to the
decisions of 17 May 20057 and 6 September 2005 .® the Appellant filed both his Notice of Appeal
and his Appellant’s Brief on 12 October 2005 (“Nouce of Appeal” and “Appellant’s Brief”,
respectively). The briefing with respect to the Appellant’s appeal was completed on 12 December
2005.”

APPLICABLE LAW

4, The Appeals Chamber recalls that under the jurisprudence of the Tribunal and that of the

Inte 3 Ol L. MIinal FLOLITLE ] 0 ne niuaalay arnld b htalks TOTY™ S ADnEd aihnwrhblahe oA sl

24 of the Statute of the Tribunal (Article 25 of the Statute of the ICTY) is not a trial de novo'® and
is not an opportunity for a party to remedy any “failurcs or oversights” made during the pre-trial
and trial phases." Rule 115 of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence of the Tribunal (“Rules™)
provides for a mechanisin to address “the situation where a party is in possession of material that

was not before the court of first instance and which is additional evidence of a fact or issue Litigated
at trial”.!?

5. According to Rule 115, for additional evidence to be admissible on appeal, the following
requirements must be met: first, the motion to present additonal evidence should be filed “not later
than thirty days from the date for filing of the brief in reply, unless good cause or, after the appeal

® The Prosecutor v. Ferdinand Nohimana et al., Case No. ICTR-99-52-T, Judgement and Seateace, 3 December 2003
S“Trial Jodgement™).

Decizion on' “Appellant Jean-Bosco Barayapwiza®s Urgent Motion for Leave to Have Further Time to File the
Appeals Brief and the Appeal Notice™, 17 May 2005 (“Decisian of 17 May 2005™),
! Decision on Clarification of Time Limits and on Appellant Barayagwiza's Extremely Urgent Motion for Extension of

Time to File hiy Noteg of Appeal and Tus Appellant’ s Brief, § Sepember 2003 (“Decision of & September 2005”7,

¥ The Appellant Jean-Bosco Barayagwiza's Reply o the Consolidated Respondent’s Brief, 12 December 2005 {“Reply
Brcf”). For a more detailed procedural background, the Appeals Chamber refers to its earlier decisions in the preseat
case (Decision on Appellant Jean-Bosco Barayagwiza’s Motion for Leave 10 Present Additional Evidence Pursuant to
Rule 115, 5 May 2006 (“Decision of 5 May 20057), paras. 3-5; Decision on Appellant Jean-Bosco Barayagwiza's
Motiens for Leave to Submit Additional Grounds of Appeal. o Amend the Notice of Appeal and W Corroct His
Appellant’s Brief, 17 August 2006, paras. 5-8).

' Confidential Decision on Appellant Hassan Ngeze's Six Motions for Admission of Additional Evidence on Appeal
ancd/or Further Javestigation at the Appeal Stage, 23 February 2006 (“Decision of 23 February 2006™), para. 5; Decision
on Jean-Bosco Bammymgwiza's Extremely Urgent Mokion for Leave to Appoint an Investigetar, 4 October 2005
(“Decigion of 4 Octabar 2005"), p. 3; Prosecutor v. Jean-Paul Akayesu. Case No. ICTR-96-4-A, Judgement, 1 Junc
2001, para. 177.

" Decision on Appellant Hassan Ngeze's Motion [or the Approval of the Investigation at the Appeal Stage, 3 May
2003, p. 3; Prasecutor v. Drazen Erdemovi¢, Case No, TT-96-22-A, Judgement, 7 October 1997, para. 15.

" Decasion of 23 February 2006, para. 6; Decision of 4 October 2008, p, 4; Prosecutor v. Zoran Kupredkic et oL, Case
Na. IT-95-16-A, Decision on the Motions of Drago Josipovic, Zoran Kuprelki¢ and Vlatko Kupredkié o Admir
Additional Evidence Pwrsuant to Rule 115 and for Judiclal Notice to be Takea Pursvant o Rule 94 (B), 8 May 2001
(“Kuprelkid et ol Decision of § May 2001™}, para. 5.

Case Na. ICTR-99-52-A 3 December 2006
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hearing, .cogcnt reasons, ars shown for a delay.'? Second, the Appeals Chamber must find “that the
additional evidence was not available at trial and is relevant and credible™.!* When determining the
availability at trial, the Appeals Chamber will consider whether the party tendering the evidence has
shown that it sought to make “appropriate use of all mechanisms of protection and compulsion
available under the Statute and the Rules of the International Tribunal to bring evidence [...] before
the Trial Chamnber.”'S n this respect, the Appeals Chamber has held that

Counse] is expected fo apprise the Trial Chamber of all the diffleulties he or she
encoumters in obtaining the evidence in question, Mmecluding any problems of intirmdation,
and his ar her inability to locate certain witnesses™ and that “[t]he obligation to apprise the
Trial Chamber constitutes not only a first step in exercising due diligence but also a means
of self-protection in that non-cooperation of the prospective wimess is recorded
contemporaneously.t®

With regards to relevance, the Appeals Chamber will consider whether the propesed evidence
sought to be admitted relates to & material issue. As to credibility, the Appeals Chamber will only
refuse to admit evidence at this stage if it does not appear to be reasonably capable of belief or
reliance, without prejudice to a determination of the weight to be afforded.!”

6.  Once it has been determined that the additional evidence meets these eonditions, the Appeals
Chamber will determine whether the evidence “could have been a decisive factor in reaching the
decision at tal.*'® To satisfy this requirement, the evidence must be such that it could have had an
impact on the verdict, ie. it cowld have shown that & conviction was mmsafe.'” Accordingly, the
additional evidence must be directed at a specific finding of fact related to a conviction or to the
sentence.?’ Although Rule 115 of the Rules does not explicitly provide for this, where the evidence
is relevant and credible, but was available at trial, or could have been discoversd through the
exercise of due diligence, the Appeals Chamber may still allow it ta be admitted on appeal provided

the movug party can establish that the exclusion of it would amount to 2 miscarriage of justice.

¥ Rule 115(A) of the Rules as amended on 10 November 2006.

" Rule 115(8).

¥ The Prosecutor v, André Ntagerura et ol., Case No, ICTR-55-46-A, Decislos on Prosecution Mokion for Admission
of Additioon! Evidence, 10 Decemnber 2004 (“Mogerura et ol Dedision of 10 Docember 2004"), pam 9. (Internal
{‘efmnces omirted).

1" Decision of 23 Februery 2006, para. 7; Prosecutor v. Zoran Kupre¥kid et al,, Case Np. IT-95-16-A, Declsion on
Motions for the Admission of Additiona] Evidence Riled by the Appellants Viatko Kupre$kié, Drago Josipovi¢, Zoran
Kupre3ki¢ and Mirjan Kuprcdkic, 26 Felwuary 2001, para. 28; Proseculor v. Zoran Kupredkic ¢t ol , Case No, IT-95-16-
A, Appeal Judgement, 23 October 2001 (“Kuprefkic’ Appeal Judgement”), para. 63; Prorecutor v. Tihomir Blaskié,
Case No. IT-95-14-A, Decision oo Evidence, 31 October 2003 (“Blafkid Decision of 31 Qctober 2003, p. 3:
Prosecutor v, Mladen Noletili€ and Vinko Martinouic, Case No, IT-98-34-A, Declsion on Nelsrilié’s Amanded Second
Rule 115 Modon and Third Rula 115 Motion to Prasent Additiona]l Bvidenee, 7 July 2005, para, 12.

't Rule 115 (B) of the Rules.

¥ Zoran Rupreskic Appeal Judgement, para. 68; Prosecutor v. Radisiay Krytic, Case No. IT-98-33-A, Decision on
Application for Admission of Additionel Evidence an Appeal, 5 Angust 2003 (“Krstic Decision of § August 2003, p.
3 Bladlie Deciston of 31 October 2003, p. 3,

Case No., ICTR-99-52-A 8 December 2006
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That s, it must be demonstrated that had the additional evidence been adduced at trial, it would
have had an impact on the verdict. ™

7.  The Appeals Chamber tecalls that, whether the additional evidence was or was not available
at trial, the additional evidence must always be assessed in the context of the evidence presented at

trial, and not in isolation.**

THE MOTION GIVING NOTICE OF DELAY

8.  As a preliminary matter, the Appeals Chamber turns to the Mction Giving Notice of Delay.
The Appellant states that he wishes to notify the Pre-Appeal Judge of the necessity of delaying his
motion for additional evidence relating to Alison Des Forges and the reagons for this delay.” He

thereby requests that, in considering the admissibility of his futwre Motion for Additional Evidence,
. : 24

= additional evidence

9.  As recelled above, the time-limit for the filing of 2 motion to admit additional evidence is
thirty days from the date for filing of the brief in reply, unless good cause is shown for delay.” The
Appeals Chamber understands that through the Motion Giving Notice of Delay, the Appellant seeks
to show good cause for the delayed filing of his First Rule 115 Motion. The Appeals Chamber notes

has passed, as a matter of praclice, that showing is normally made as part of the Rule 115 motion
itself with a request that the motion be recagnized as validly filed. Thus, the Appesals Chamber will
consider the arguments contained in the Motion Giving Notice of Delay when disposing of the

Appellant’s submissions concerning good cause for the late filing of his First Rule 115 Motion as
follows.

® Decigion of 23 Februsry 2006, para. 8.
H J’uve:na.t Kcyetljeh v. The Prm‘ecumr, Caso No ICI'R-QBMAFA-. Dcc‘.ismn on Defcnce Mouon for the Admission of

Decision of '23 Octuber 2004 ’) para 11; Nragerum et al. Dmon of 10 Decembcr 2004 paa |11, See also
Prosecution v, Rosim Delig, Casc No, IT-96-21-R-R119, Decision on Motion for Review, 25 April 2002, para. 18;
Prosecution v, Radislav Kratic¢, Case No. IT-98-33-A, Decision on Application far Subpocnas, 1 July 2003, para. 16;
Krsti¢ Dedision of 5 August 2003, p. 4; Blail Docisian of 31 October 2003, p. 3.
 Kafslljeli Decision of 28 Qctober 2004, para. 12; Nizgerura ¢t al Desision of 10 December 2004, pard. 12. See also
Blaikid Decision of 31 October 2003, p. 3; Momir Nikolic v, Prosecutor, Case No. IT-02-60/1-A, Confidential Decision
on Motion to Admit Additional Evidence, 9 December 2004, para. 25.
B Motion Giving Notice of Delay, paca. 2.

2 Ibid., para. 9.

._ ‘.ls‘lf‘ej!ligli S §

of De.lny, lhe deaﬂlm: wag 56t 10 scvcnty-ﬁvc days after lhn l:nal Jlldgnl'nnnl_
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THE FIRST RULE 115 MOTION

Al Submissions of the Paxties

10. In tke First Rule 115 Motion, the Appellant requests the admission of twelve docwupents as
additional evidence on appeal,®® which, he ¢laims, show that Alison Des Forges, by instigating a
civil suit in the New York District Court, “actively pursued the Appellant [...] to nettralize him and
undermine the efforts of the Rwandan Interim Governmment to get support from the United
Nations”.”’ In additon, the Appellant argues, Alison Des Forges did not disclose her role in the
civil suit until her cross-examination in the Zigiramyirazo case in March 2006, and the Prosecution,
although aware of these facts, did not disclose them to the Appellant.?® Moreover, documents in
Annexes 7 through 11, the Appellant contends, “refute the propaganda disseminated by Alison
Desforges [sic]™® about the intentions of the Interim Govenunent and show that her statement
given to the New York District Court was false.”®

11. The Appellant submits that the svidence only became available to him in June 2006, becanse
the Prosccution did not disclose the information about Alison Des Forges’ involvement in the New
York civil suit.’! The Appellant argues that he was not aware of this suit. He admits that he had
received 2 document from the court in 1994, but was not sure whether it was genuine, because it

was not served on him by officials.*

12. The Prosecution responds that the documents proffered by the Appellant as new evidence do
not satisfy the criteria of admissibility voder Rule 115 of the Rules.*® The Prosecution argues that
the Appellant was aware of the New York lawsuit, that he sent a letter to the judpe who decided the
matter, and that he referred to the lawsuit in his book “Rwanda, le Sang Hutu est-il rouge?”. He was

* Statement of Alison Des Forges relating 1o the Civil Suit against the Appelant lodged in the New York District
Court, and the Appellant’s letter to the Judge Ceda Baum Spresiding over the caseC (Annex 1); Exwmact of the
Prosecution's closing arguments on Civil Suits against the Appellant (Anncx 2); Extract of the transcrigt of the cross-
examination of Alison Des Forges on 14 fune 2004 in the case Prosecutor v. Casimir Bizimungu et al. Case No. ICTR-
99-50-T (Annex 3% Exiract of the transcript of the cross-examination of Alison Des Forges on L Mareh 2006 in the case
Prozecutor v. Protais Zigiranyiragzo, Case No. ICTR-01-73-T (Anncx 4); Frosecution’s Response to the Appellant’s
terquest for disclosure of the case file of the Civil Suit in the New York District Court, dsited 22 March 2006 (Annex 3);
Letter from the Appellani to the US Ambagsadar in Cameroon dated 12 Apdl 1996 (Annex 6); five documenis related
to the schvities of the Rwandan Imerim Government with regard 1o the United Nations, taken from a poblication “The
Urated Nabions and Rwanda 1993 to 1996" (Annexass 7 through 11); and a number of tanseripts of intecviews with the
foreign minister of the Interim Governmeal, Jerome Bicamumpaka in 1994 taken from the BBC summary of waorld
broadeasts (Annox 12).

** First Rue 115 Motion, para. 16.

2 14,

* Ibid., parn 17.

9 Pid., paras 32-43,

*! Ibid., para. 19; Motion Giving Notice of Delay, paras 5-8.

¥ Fiest Rule 115 Molion, para. 23,

# Response 1o the First Rule 115 Motian, para. 5.

5
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therefore in the position to look for the documents from this lawsuit and use them at his tria!** In
addition, the Prosecution argues that Counsel for the Appellant was aware of Alison Des Forges’
involvement in the civil suit and cross-exemined her about it at trial ** Furthermare, the Prosecution
submits that Alison Des Forges 15 neither biased against the Appellant, nor gave any inconsistent ar
misleading information about her involvement in the civil suit’® Regarding the documents related
to the policy of the Iuterim Government in 1994, the Prosacution submits that they are neither nsw,

nor could they have influenced the teial ¥
|

13, In reply, the Appellant submits that the R.!esponse to the First Rule 115 Motion should be
expunged from the record because it r:xceedsli. the page limit of ten pages.’® Regarding the
Prosecution’s arguments, he submits that he only ‘:lnecame aware of the importance of the documents
after Alison Des Forges’' testimony in the Zigir:-anyirazo case, and that they were therefore not
available at trial.”

|
B. Discussion
|

Preliminary Issues

r

14. At the outsei, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Appellant filed the scparate Corrigendum
Motiom to correct a clerical error in his Reply to the First Rule 115 Motion.” The Appeals Chamber
recalls that “‘a paxty may, without requesting Ieavqe from the Appeals Chamber, file a corrigendum {o
their previcusly filed brief or motion whenever a minor or clerical error in said brief or motion is
subsequently discovered and where correclion! of the efror is necessary in order to provide
clarification™.” Although it was unnecessary for the Appellant to file a motion to this extent, the
Appeals Chamber finds that the submitted amendment indeed corrects an obvious clerical error and
doss not amnount to any substantial chenge of du.fé Appellant’s Reply to the First Rule 115 Motion.
Therefore, the Appeals Chamber finds that the iAppellant‘s Reply to the First Rule 115 Motion
should be read in accordance with the amendments proposed by the Comrigendum Motion and
allowed by the present decision.

H Ibid., paras. T-8.
* Ibid., para. 9.
2 % Ibid., paras. 13-20,
Ib:d’.,pm’ﬂs 21-23.
= Regply 1o the First Rule 115 Motian, paras. 2-3.
bid » Ibid., pers. 7.
* Carrigendnm Motion, para. 1.
*! Decision om the Appellamt Jean-Bosco Barayagwiza’s Cormrigsndum Motions of 5 July 2006, 30 Oclober 2006, p. 2,
quoting Prosecutor v. Zeljko Majaki¢ et al, Cese No. IT-02-65-AR11bis.1, Decision on Joint Defense Motion for
Enlargement of Time to File Appellants’ Bricf, 30 August 2005, p_ 3.

Case No. ICTR-99-32-A 8 December 2006
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15. Second, the Appellant takes issue with the length of the Prosecution’s subnnission, which, in
his view, “deliberately and manifestly” disregards a decision by the Pre-Appeal Judge denying a

request for an extension of the page limitz for the Prosecution’s response to the Appellant’s First
Rule 115 Motion.*? The Appeale Chamber notes that, in respanse to the Appellant’s request for an
extension of page limits for its First Rule 115 Motiom, the Prosecution requested a reciprocal
extension for its response. The Pre-Appeal Judge denied the Prosecution’s request because she

consadered the request for an extension of the page limit for a potential response to a motion that

Prosecution from requesting an extension once the actual motion had been filed, which it did in its
Response to the First Rule 115 Motion,* Considering the length of the First Rule 115 Motion and
the number and size of the documents proffered as additional evidence, the Appeals Chamber finds
that the Prosecution has shown good cause for the filing exceeding the regular page limit, and
accepts the Response to the First Rule 115 Motion as validly filed.

Late Filing of the First Rule 115 Moticn

16. With respect to the Appellant’s First Rule 115 Motion, the deadline for the filing of motions
under Rule 115 of the Rules expired on 11 January 2006. Any Rule 115 motions filed by the
Appellant et the present stage of the proceedings are therefore ?.dmissible only if the Appellant
shows good cause for the late filing.*® The Appeals Chamber recalls that “the good cause
requirement obliges the moving party to demonstrate that it was not able to comply with the me

bmit set out in the Rule, and that it submitted the motion in question as soon as possible after it
became aware of the existence of the evidence sought to be admitted”,*

17. The Appeals Chamber notes that most of the documents proffered by the Appellant as
additional evidence are more than one year old, the majority of th@{nn even dating back to the 1950s.
The only argument advanced by the Appeliant as explanation for the late filing of these documenis
is that he became aware of Alison Des Forges' involvement in fthe New York civil snit only in

March 2006.4

Ruply to the Flrst Rule 115 Motion, para. 3.

Dmsmn of 26 May 2006, p. 4.

4! Responsc to the First Rule 118 Moton, paras. 3, 32,
- ** Rule 115(A) ol the Rules,

* Prosecutor v. Darlo Kord(€ and Mario Cerkez, Cage No. IT-95-14/2-A, Decision on Prosecution’s Moton to Admit
Additional Evidence in Relaton to Darie Kordid and Maria Cerkez, 17 Ducembt:r 2004, p. 2; Prorecutor v. Miaden
Naletitic and Vinkn Martinovic, Case No. TT-98-34-A, Decision an Naluuhc"s Mbodon for Leave to File Flis Second
Rule 115 Mouun Io Pn.-.sem Addmaua.l .'E\udunm: Pumu.m o Rule 115 27 .Tnnuary 2005, p. 3.

Cage No. ICTR-59-52-4

8 December 2006 m
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Appellant. > In this context, the Appeals Chamber observes that nothing in the documents proffered
by the Appellant supports his assertion that Alison Des Forges was the “driving force™* behind the
civil suit, Considering that the other documents were carlier available to the Appellant and that the
extract of Alison Des Forges® testimony in the Zigiraryirazo case presented no uew information to
the Appellant, the Appeals Chamber finds that it does not justify the late filing of the First Rule 115
Moation. In any case, the extract itself became available o the Appellant soon after the hearing in
March 2006, because it was this transcript which occasioned his letter w the Prosscution of 1Z
March 2006,” and the Appellant has not shown good cause For sesking admission of this document

as additional evidence more thau four months after it became available to him.

20. In hight of the above, the Appeals Chamber concludes that the Appellant has not shown good
cause for the late filing of any of the documents proffered as edditional evidence. The Appeals
Chamber thus finds no need to consider the merits of the First Rule 115 Motion™ and dismisses it jn
its entirety.

THE SECOND RULE 115 MOTION

A, Submissions of the Parties

21. In the Second Rule 115 Motion, the-Appellant submits thees documents which show, in his
view, that tha Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was President of the CDR at the national
level” The tree documents are two messages by David Rawson, U.S. Ambassador 1o Rwanda in
1994,* and a letter from the CDR, signed by Théoneste Nahimang, the then first Vice-President of
the CDR.* In the two messages from Ambassador Rawson, the Appellant is referred to as “CDR
counselor” or “CDR deputy-designate”, respectively. This r;hcrws, the Appellant ergues, that
someone a3 well-informed as the UJ.S. Ambassador did not consider the Appellant to be the CDR.
President.” Regarding the letter signed by Théoneste Nahimana, the Appellant argues that its
contant was so important that it would have been signed by the President of the CDR. The fact that

viag omorFmﬂm Dehy pa:a. 2
“ Cf Decision af 5 May 2006, para. 27.
37 Second Rule 115 Motion, paras 2-3.
. -, 1bidk, prus 8-11 and 15,
!bld., pares 12-[4.
5 M4, pare 11.

|
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it was not signed by the Appellant therefore shows, in the Appellant’s view, that he did not occupy
this position.®!

22. The Prosecution responds that the Appellant overstates the importance of the Trial Chamber’s
finding about his position in the CDR.%? Regarding the documents proffered by the Appeilant, the
Prosecution argues that the Appellant has not demonstrated that the evidence was unavailable at
trial in any form and could not have been discovered through the exercise of due diligence.®’ In fact,
the Prosecution submits, the Appellant abuses the procedure pravided by Rule 115 of the Rules to
remedy the consequences of his tactics gt trial and failings in this appcal.“ The Prosecuticn argues
that all the documents were available much earlier than July 2006 and that the Appellant
accordingly has not shown good cause for the late filing of the motion. In addition, the Prosecution

-y 65

23. The Appesllant replies that Defence Counsel imposed on him at trjal was incompetent and
prossly negligent and, as a result, he was not adequately represented. Therefore, he argues, even
evidence which was available at tmal, but was not properly used by his Counsel, should be

considered as “new”.%¢
B, Discugsion

24. As with the First Rule 115 Motion, the Second Rule 115 Motion was filed cight months after
the expiry of the time period stipulated under Rule 115(A) of the Rules. The Appellant submits that
the documents proffered as additional evidence were obtained by him during the month of July
2006, whea he recaived an electronic file called “Alchemy” from the *National Archive”, & non-
governmental research instimte based in the United States which *“collects and publishes
declassified documents obtained through the Fréedom of Information Act”.¥’ The Appeals Chamber
is therefore satisfied that there is good cause justifying the late filing of the Second Rule 115

Motion.

25. With respect to availability of the proffered evidence at trial, the Appeals Chamber is not
satisfied that the Appellant was unable to obtain it in spite of the exercise of due diligence. As, the
Prosecution points out, the declassifying process of U.S. documents started in 1998 and many

1 Ibid , pars_ 13.

% Responst to the Second Rule 115 Motion, para. 3.
® Did , para. 7.

® Ibid., paras, 4-6,

& Ibid., paras 18-23.

% Raply to the Second Ruk: 115 Morion, para 7.

% Secand Rule 115 Motion, para. 8.
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urclassified documents were accessible on the National Security Archive webpage in 2001.% The

Appezls Chamber finda that the Appellant’s reply to this argument, that the Prosecution failed to
prove that the documents were declassified before bis trial,” is misguided; it is for the Appellant to
show that the documents were available to him only recently. On the contrary, the Appellant’s own
arguments seem 1o suggest that the documents were accessible earlier than 2003: the compilation of

documents which the Appellant received is the result of research carried out between 1994 and
2003.™

26. In addition, the Appeals Chamber notes that both messeges in their relevant perts refer to
conversations between the Appellent and Ambassedor Rawson.”” The Appellant was therefore
aware that these conversations had taken place. The point the Appelilant wishes to make by

proifering the messages is that the U.S., Awnbassadorwho was monitoring vlosety thepokitica
events in Rwanda, would have been among the first diplomats to be informed” szbout the
Appellant’s eventual appointment as CDR President and would have referred to him as such in his
messages.” The Appellant’s role in the CDR was clearly an issue at trial.”> Given the Appellant’s
contacts with Ambassador Rawson, the Appellant could have attempted to contact Ambassador
Rawson, either to learn ebout his reports to the U.S. government in 1994 as & reliable and
independent source of political information on Rwanda, or with the objective to adduce his live
testimony about the Appellant’s role in the CDR at trial.

27. Regarding the letter signed by Théoneste Nahimana, the Appellant’s submissions show that he
was ewere of the existence of this letter at trial, The Appeals Chamber also notes that the report by
Ambassader Rawson dated 28 March 1994 suggests that the Appellant ‘was at least involved in the
drafting of the letter sipned by Théoneste Nahimana, as he was informed about his content before it
was signed and ook suggesiions from Ambassador Rawson as to its content.” Furthermore, it was
the Appellant hirnself who gave a copy of this letter to Ambassador Rawson in 1994.7 The Appeals
Chamber notes that a number of CDR. documents were adduced at trial on behaif of the Appellnnt.“

™ Respanse to the Seetnd Rule 115 Moton, para. 10.

% Reply to the Second Rule 115 Motion, pare. 6.

 Second Rule 115 Motion, par 8, fn. 7, referring to a statement by the “National Archive”.

" Ibid.. Annex 1; “Message of the US Ambassador Rawson dated 31 Maxch 19947, para 2: “CDR Cotinsslor, Jean
Bosco Barnyagwiza, telephoned embassador about 10:30 PM [illegible ward] of 3/30..."; Second Rule 115 Motion,
Annex 3: “Message of the US Ambagsador Rawson dased 28 March 19947, para, 14: “CDR Depuly-designate JTean-
Bosco Barayagwiza called Ambassador morning 3/27_..7

™ Second Rule 115 Motion, para. 11.

7 Gf. Trial Judgement, pares 258-277.

:: Sccand Rule 115 Motion, Aonex 3: “Meszage of the US Ambassador Rawson detsd 28 March 1994”, para. 15.
Ibid  para. 15

™ Response to the Second Rule 115 Motion, parn. 16, reforring Lo Exhibits 2012 to 2D34,
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The Appellant has thus not shown that the letter was unavailable o him at trial or that he had made
efforts to obtain a copy thereof in the exercise of due diligence.

28. In light of the above, while the Appeals Chamber finds that the proffered evidence is prima
facie relevani and credible, it will admit it 25 additional evidence on appeal only if it concludes that
its exclusion would result in a miscarriage of justice, i.e. it would have had an impact on the verdict
if it hed been adduced at trial. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Appellant only suggests the

proffered evidence cowld have been a decisive factor for the Trial Chamber’s finding with respect to
the Appellant’s position in the CDR.”

29. Conceming the letter from the CDR Party to the Prime Minister, the Appellant argues that the
letter was of such importance for the CDR that only the President could have signed it; thus, the

Appellant elaims, the fact that it was signed not by himself, but by Théoneste Nahimana, shows that
he was not acting as the presidsnt.”® However, the Appellant does not advanice any support for his
argument demonstrating why this letter should have been necessarily signed by the president. The
Appeals Chargber recalls that Théoneste Nahimana was the first Vice President of the CDR.”® The
Statute of the CDR, to which the Appellant refers, shows that the first Vice-President was. the “first
supplementary legal representative” (“le premier Représentant Légal Suppléant'™) of the CDR and
was thus able to represent the party.*® Considering the Trial Chamber’s finding that the Appellant
was seen as “working to some extent behind the scenes”, the fact that the letier was signed by
Théoneste Nahimana is not inconsistent with the Trial Chamber's conclusions. Therefore, the
Appeals Chamber finds that this piece of evidemce, had it been adduced at trial, would not have
changed the verdict with regard to the Appellant’s position

30. As regards the messages sent by the U.S. Ambassador, Mr. David R.awsoﬁ, the Appellant
argues that these documents prove that he was not the CDR National President.®' In light of the

evidence adduced at trial, the Appeals Chamber is not satisfied that the Trial Chamber waoxld have

armived at a different conclusion upon éxamination of the twe messages in question. The Appellant
has not shown that the Trial Chamber would necessarily opt for the evidence that he now proffers
mstead of the totality of the evidence that it chose to rely on to conclude that Barayagwiza held the

7 Second Ruls ) LS Molion, paras 19, 23; se¢ alvo pars. 25: “The newly discovarcd evidooco enhances the exculpatory
value of the existing material and renders all the more obvious that the finding and the conviction against the Appellant,
based on the fact that he succeeded Bucyana as the Natlonal President of CDR, are bascless and should be quashed ™

™ Ibid,, para. 13.

™ Ihid  para. 15.

% Anicle 19 of the CDR Statute, Second Rule 115 Motion, Annex 4(1), “CDR Stamute (Exhibir 29)”, p. 29.

# Second Rule 115 Motion, paras 11 and 15.
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position of a superior in the CDR including that, after the assassination of Bucyana in February

1954, Barayagwiza succeeded him as President of tha: CDR at the national level.®

31. The Appeals Chamber also rejects the Appellant’s argnment in relation to the incompetence of
his counsel at trial.® While it is true that, where the faiture resulted solely from counsel negligence
or inadvertence, the Appeals Chamber can permit admission of additional evidence to remedy for
such negligence or inadvertence, this would only be allowed if the proffered evidence is of such
substantial importance io the success of the appeal such as its exclusion would lead to a misearriage
of justice.* In these exceptional cases, the Appeals Chamber has reasoned, the interests of justice
require that an eppellant not be held responsible for the fatlures of counsel.* However, in light of
the findings above, the Appeals Chamber is not satisfied that non-admission of the proffered

32. Finally, with respect to the Appellant’s arguments concerning the “already existing
exculpatory material erroneously not taken info account by the [T]rial Chamber”,® the Appeals
Chamber notes that these arguments relate t;o specific grounds of appeal raised by the Appellant
against the Trial Judgement and that they will be appropriately addressed by the Appeals Chamber
in rendering its appesls judgement on the Appellant’s main appeal®™ Therefore, the Appeals
Chamber will not dispose of them in the present decision.

33. In addition to his request for admission of additional evidence, the Appellant argues that the
Prosecution failed to disclose the letter signed by Théoneste Nahimana to him under its obligations
pursuant to Rule 68(A) of the Rules and that this failure “should be considered as an abuse of

¥ See, intar alia Trial Judgcment, pars. 258 roforring to Exhibit 2D9; para. 260 referring to Alison Des Forges'
tc:.umnny and Exhibit P14]. para 261 n:l’cmug o ‘I'J:I: u:sumany of Ahsnn Des Forﬂ'e.s,. Omar Setushngo, Fanr;msr

L

of 'I?mm.u.s Kmnlh‘l]dl Aligon Des 8, Jenn-Plen'a Chrétmn. Wmlaas AH] W:Incss EB Wimoss AFX, Wit.nt.ss
Omar Serushago; para. 266 referring to the wsumony of Wimess ADC, Wiiness LAG, Omar Scrushago, Kamnilind,
. Kabanda and Allson Des Forges and that of Hassan Ngeze: para. 267 referring to Exhubit ZD35 ((be book wrinten by the
i Appellant “Le Sang Hutu esr-if rouge 7', and paras 273, 276, 977,
| a -, Second Rule 115 Motlon, para. 16,
B See, by analogy, Decision on Appellant Jean-Boseo Barayagwiza's Motions for Leave to Submit Additional Grounds
of Appesl, to Amend the Notice of Appeal and to Correct his Appellant’s Brief, 17 August 2006, para 12; Progecuror
v. Vidoje Blapojevit end Drugan Jokig, Case No, [T-02-60-A, Decision on Motiem of Dragan Jokid for Leave to Flla
Third Amended Notice of Appeal and Amcnded Appellatc Bricf, 26 June 2006, para, 9; Prosecutor v. Vidajs Biagojevic
and Dragan Joki¢, Case No, IT-02-60-A, Decision on Motions Related to the Pleadings in Dragan Jokid™s Appeal, 24
November 2005, paro. 8; Slagajevid Decision of 14 October 2003, pars. 8 Provecutor v. Darlo Kordle® and Marto
Cerkez, Casc No, TT-95-14/2-A, Decision Granting Leave to Dario Kardi¢ to Amend His Grounds of Appeal, 9 May
200’2-. para. 5.
* Decision on Appellant Jean-Bosco Barayagwiza's Motions far Leave to Submit Additional Grounds of Appeal,
Amend the Notice of Appeal and to Correct his Appellant’s Brief, 17 August 2006, para. 12,
* Secand Rule 115 Motioa, para. 24 referring to Exhibits 2D9, 2D12, P203, P140 and P103/190C,
*7 Appeals Brief, paras 181-193 (Grounds 18-21).
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process and a serious obstruction to a fair trial which deserves a sanction™.® The Appeals Chamber
first observes “that the Prosecution may be relieved of its Rule 68 obligation if the existence of the
relevant exculpatory material is known to the Defence and if it is reasonably accessible through the
exercise of due diligence”.®® As noted above, the document was known to the Appellant, and he has

not demonstrated that the dJocument was uot reasonably accessible to him.

34, Second, the Appeals Chamber recalls thet “material will fall wathin the ambit of Rule 68 if it
tends to suggest the imacence or mitigate the guilt of the accused, or affects the credibility of
Prosecution evidence™.> The determination of what material meets Rule 68 disclosure requirements
is primarily a fact-based jundgement made by and under the responsibility of the Prosecution.”
Therefore, as noted previously, the Appeals Chamber will not intervene in the exercise of the
Prosecution’s discretion, umless it is shown that the Prosecution abused it and, where there is no
evidence to the contrary, will assume that the Prosecution is acting in good faith.”? In this respect,
the Appeals Charaber notes that, if an appellant wighes to show that the Prosecution is in breach of
these obligations, he/she must identify specifically the materials sought, present a prima facie
showing of its probable exculpatory nature, and prove the Prosecutor's custody or conirol of the
materials requested.” Finally, even when the Defence satisfies the Chamber that the Prosecution
has failed to comaply with its Rule 68 obligations, the Chamber will still examine whether the

4 Second Rule 115 Motion, para. 14.
% Prasacutor v, Edouard Xaremeru et al., Case No, [CTR-98-44-AR73.7, Decision on Intcrlocutory Appeel Regarding
the Role of the Prosecutor’s Elscironic Disclosure Suite in Discharging Diselosure Obligations, 30 June 2006, para. 15;
Prosecutor v. Tikomir Blatkic, Case No. IT-95-14-A, Appeal Judgement, 29 July 2004 (“Bla¥kic Appeals Judgement™),
nra 296.
Prosecuior v. Kryni¢, Case No. IT-98-33-A, Appeal Tudgement, 1% April 2004, para. 178.
Decision on Appellant Jean-Bosco Barsyagwizn’s Motian Requesting that the Prasceution Disclosme of the
Interview of Miche]l Bagaragaza Bs Expunged Som the Record, 30 October 2006, (“Barayagwiza Declsion on
Disclosure™ pars. 6; Frosecutor 'v. Edounrd Karemera et al., Case No. ICTR-98-44-AR73.6, Decision on Joseph
Nzirorern’s Interdocutory Appeal, 28 April 2006, para. 16; Prosecutor v. Radoslav Brdanin, Case No. TT-99-36.4,
Decision on Appellant’s Motion for Disclosure Pursuapt to Rule 68 and Motion for an Order to the Registrar to
Disclose Certain Materizls, 7 December 2004 (“Brdamin 7 December 2004 Decision™), p. 3; Bladkié Appcals
Judgement, para, 264; Prosecutor v. Tthomir Bladkid, Case No IT-95-14-A, Decision an Prosesution’s Application to
Seek Guidansc from the Appesls Chamber regarding Redaction of the Sttement of “Witnets Two' for the pagposes of
Disclosure to Daria Kordié under Rule 68, 4 March 2004, (“Blaskié 4 March 2004 Decislon™), pera, 44; Prosecutor v.
Tihomir Blagkié, Case Na IT-95-18-A, [canfidential] Decision on Prosesution’s Application to Seck Guidance from the
Appeals Chamber regarding Redaction of the Statement of “Witness Twe” for the purposes of Disclosure to Pasko
Ljubiti¢ under Rule 68, 30 March 2004 (“Blafkié 30 March 2004 Decision'™), paras 31-32; Prosecutor v. Tihomir
Biafki¢, Case No. IT-95-14-A, Decision can the Appellani’s Motions for the Production of Matetial, Suspension or
Extension of the Hriefing Schedule, and Additcmal Filings, 26 September 2000 (“Bla¥kié 26 September 2000
Decision™), paras 38, 45.
R Burayagwiza Decision on Disclosure, para. & Prosecutor v. Mirostav Bralp, Case No, IT-95-17-A, Decision on
Motions for Access w £x Parte Portions of the Record on Appeal and for Disclosure of Mitigating Material, 30 Auguse
2006 ("Braic Declsion™), para. 31: Srdanin 7 December 2004 Declsfon, p. 3; Prosecutor v. Miruslavy Kvocka et al.,
Case Mo, IT-98-30/1-A, Decision, 22 March 2004, p. 3; Georges Rutnganda v. Prosecutgr, Case No. ICTR-96-3-A,
Decision on Urgent Defence Motion for Disclosure and Admission of Additicnal Evidence and Scheduling Order, 12
December 2002, pp 4-3; Alfred Musema v. Prosecutor, Case No, ICTR-96-13-A, Decision on the Appeliant’s Motions
for the Production of Matcrial, Suspension of Extension of the Briefing Schedule, and Addidanal Filings, 1 May 2001,
p- 4; Bla¥fid 26 Seprember 2000 Decision, para. 39.
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Defence has actually been prejudiced by such faillure before comsidering whether a temedy is

apbropriate.” The Appeals Chamber is neither satisfied that the document is of prima facle
exculpatory nature, nor that the alleged Prosecution’s failure to communicats it to the Appellant
would have caused him any prejudice.”

35. For these reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Appellant’s argument that the
Proseoution did not falfil its obligationts ymder Rule 68(A) of the Rules by not disclosing the letter,
is unfounded.

THE THIRD RULE 115 MOTION

A. issious of arties

36. In the Third Rule 115 Motion, the Appellant submits another two messages from T11.S.
Ambassador Rawson, which be obtained from the same source as the two messages submitted in
the Second Rule 115 Motion®® Both messages are dated 22 February 1994 and relate to &
demonstration by CDR members ocutside the Ministry of Foreign Affairs in Kigali. The Appellant
argees that both messages show that tlhie testimony of Witness AGK at trial about the CDR
demonstration is false and that, accordingly, the Trlal Chamber's findings based on this evidence
are unsafe.”

37. The Prosecution responds that the Appellant impermissibly tries to use the procedure of Rule
115 to remedy his failings at his trial and on appeal.” The Prosecution argues that the evidence
proffered by the Appcllant is not new and that he does not advance any argument that could
constitute good cause For the late filing of the motion,”™ Finally, the Prosecution argues that the new

evidence neither could nor would have been a decisive factor at trial.'®

B. Discussion

38. Asapreliminary matter, the Appsals Chamber observes that the Reply to the Third Rule 115
Motion was filed after the time-limit for its filing had expired. The Appeals Chamber notes the

* Brulo Decision, par. 31; Kajeljjeli Appeal Judgement, para. 262; Brdanin 7 December 2004 Decision, p. 3.
™ grutu Deciston, para. 31; Kafelljelf Appeal Tudgement, para, 262; Krstic Appeal Judgement, para. 153,

* See also supra at para. 29.

* Third Rule 115 Molion, para. 1.

%7 Ibtd., pares 6-16.

9 Responss to the Third Rule 115 Motion, parss. 4-7.

% id, paras. B-10.

19 Ibid., paras. 19-22,
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Appellant’s explanation that he recsived the Prosecution’s Response to the Third Rule 115 Motion

only on 27 November 2006, and thus accepts it as validly filed.

33. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Appellant claims to have obtained the two documents
attached to the Third Rule 115 Motion from the same compilation of documents, the “National
Archive”, as the two messages from Ambassador Rawson submitted in the Second Rule 115
Motion."”! Considering that the Appellant received the material in Angust 2006 only, the Appeals
Chamber is satisfied that the Appellant has shown good cause for the late filing of the Third Rule

115 Motion.

40, The Appeals Chamber is alzo satisfied that the proffered evidence is prima facie relevant and
credible. However, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Appellant has failed to show that the
evidence was not available to him at his trfal or could not be obtained through exercise of due
diligence. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the party adducing additional evidence must ssteblish
that the said evidence was not available at trial in eny form whatsoever.'™ As in the Second Rule
115 Motion, the Appellant again merely asserts that the documents “have been declassified only
recently” without giving any further details about the declassification process or any earlier
atternpts to access the material.'® As the Prosecution points ont, unclassified U.S. documents were
available during the Appcllant’s trial, and the possibility to access classified documents through a
Freedom of Information Act application also existed.'™ Further, the Appsllant has not shown that
he tried to contact Ambassador Rawson to adduce his live testimony at trial. Finally, the Appeals
Chamber notes that the Appellant acknowledges that other evidence conceming the date of the
demonstration, the most important point of the documents proffered as additional evidence, was
available to him.'®

41. Accordingly, the two documents proffered would be admissible as additional evidemee only if
they wowld have affected the verdict. According ta the Appellant, the two messages from
Ambassador Rawson show that Witness AGK’s testimony at trial sbout 2 CDR demonstration was
unreliable, because there are significant contradictions betwesn Witness AGK’s testimony and the

'™ Third Rule 115 Motion, para. 1. See supra, para. 24,

1@ Prosecutor v. Sylvesire Gacumbilzst, Case No, ICTR-2001-64-A, Decision on “Requite en extitmne urgeace awx fins
¢’ admission de moyen de preuve supplementaire cn appel”’, 9 February 2006, para. 6.

*2 Third Ruls 115 Motion, para, 17, See supre, para 25.

"™ Responsc to the Third Rule 115 Mation, para. 10, refecring Lo T. 8 July 2002, p. 42 and T. 9 July 2002, pp. 4244,
65, 75.

% Reply to the Third Rule 115 Mation, pam. 18, referring to Response to the Third Rale 115 Motion, para. 12. The
evidence in question includes ranscripts from Radio Rwanda broadeasts of 21 February 1994,
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two messages. The main discrepancies noted by the Appeltant are the date of the demnonstration and
the presence of UNAMIR, soldiers. %

42. As a preliminary matter, the Appeals Chamber notes that the documents proffercd as
additional evidence are immaterial to a number of argumenis raised by the Appellant, for example,
the Trial Chamber’s reference to the term “tubatsembaisembe’” or internal inconsistencies of
Witness AGK’s testimony.'” With regard to the date of the demonstration and the presence of
UNAMIR soldiers, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Appellant does not show that Witness
AGK’s testimony and the two messgges from Ambassador Rawson relate to the same gvent.
Althongh the Appellant asserts that there is no avidence that there was more than one
demonstration,'% the very discrepancies noted by the Appellant would suggest that Witness AGK
and Ambassador Rawson refer to two different events.

43, Turther, the Appeals Chammber notes that the Troal Chamber was aware of the alleged
discrepancies in Witpess AGK’s testimony. The witness was cross-examined about the date he gave
for the demonstration (Mey 1993). Counsel in particular asked the witness whether the
demonstration took place before or after the signing of the Arusha aceords'” and explained that the
witness referred to the presence of UNAMIR soldiers, which would have been impossible in May
1993 because UNAMIR was deployed only after the signing of the Arusha aceords.''? Nevertheless,
the Trial Chamber wad satisfied that “May 1993 was [Witness AGK's] recollection of the date” and
accepted his testimony.'!! Finally, the Appcals Chamber notes that Witness AGK's evidence ghout
the demonsiration was only one of several bases for the Trial Chamber's findings regarding the
Appellant’s role in the CDR.'12

44, 1o light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that the documents proffered as additional
evidence with the Third Rule 115 Motion would not have been a decisive factor in the Trial

Chamber’s decision. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber distnigses the Third Rule 115 Motion it in
its entirety,

ﬁ Third Ruls 115 Motion, para. 14.
Id.
‘% Reply to the Third Rulc 115 Motion, para. 20.
1037 25 June 2001, pp. 28-29.
9 ryid | p, 30.
P! Trial Judpement, para. 710,
2 1hid., puxas T14-719.
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DISPOSITION

45. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber GRANTS the Corrigendum Motion;
DISMISSES the Motion Giving Notice of Delay; and DISMISSES the First Rule 115 Moatian, the
Second Rule 115 Motion and the Third Rule 15 Motion in their entirety.

Done in English and French, tbe English text being authoritative,

Dated this 8™ day of December 2006.
At The Hague, The Netherlands

Fausto Pacar
Presiding Judge
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